Before the

Administrative Hearing Commission
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)
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)

No.  05-1646 DI



)

JAMES G. COX,

)




)



Respondent.
)

DECISION


  The Director of Insurance (“the Director”) has cause to discipline James G. Cox for pleading guilty to the federal felony of conspiring to violate civil rights.  
Procedure


On November 4, 2005, the Director filed a complaint and then a first amended complaint on April 12, 2006.  We allowed Cox to file an answer out of time as of May 10, 2006.  We held our hearing on June 19, 2006.  Douglas M. Ommen, General Counsel, appeared for the Director.  Steven R. Carroll, of Steve R. Carroll & Associates, appeared for Cox.  After the hearing, we issued a schedule for the parties to file written arguments.  The Director filed his written argument on June 27, 2006.  Cox’s argument was due on August 21, 2006.  
Findings of Fact


1.
Between July 1, 2003, and February 19, 2004, Cox served as a police officer in Florissant, Missouri.  


2.
Between July 1, 2003, and February 19, 2004, Cox agreed to accept one or more payments of cash from a private citizen to secure the arrest of a person for a felony violation with the intention that this arrest would be used to affect the outcome of a child custody dispute involving that person.


3.
Cox agreed that he would arrest that person, utilizing a fraudulent police report for a charge related to the illegal use or acquisition of a credit card that he knew had not occurred in his jurisdiction.

4.
On or about July 1, 2003, Cox accepted $1,600 for arranging the arrest of that person on the credit card charge that did not occur in his jurisdiction as a Florissant police officer.


5.
After the credit card charge was dismissed, Cox and others agreed to cause the arrest of that person for possession of illegal narcotics that they agreed would be planted on that person at the time of the arrest.

6.
On or about January 21, 2004, Cox accepted $1,000 to secure his agreement to plant illegal narcotics on that person and cause that person to be arrested for possession of the illegal narcotics.


7.
The Director issued a bail bond agent license to Cox on May 5, 2004.  

8.
On July 9, 2004, the United States government filed an Information against Cox in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Missouri.  

9.
The Information charged that when Cox engaged in the conduct described in Findings of Fact 1 to 6, he: 
knowingly and willfully conspired and agreed together with others to injure and oppress a person in the free exercise and enjoyment of a right and privilege secured to that person by the Constitution and laws of the United States, to wit:  that person’s right not to be 
deprived of liberty or property without the due process of law. . . .  All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 241.[
]  

10.
On July 9, 2004, Cox pled guilty to the conduct and the crime charged in the Information.  The court found Cox guilty of the crime.  The court sentenced Cox to 14 months’ imprisonment, with supervision for two years after release,
 and fined Cox $100.

11.
Since release from imprisonment, Cox has been running his family’s bail bond business.
Conclusions of Law


We have jurisdiction to hear the Director’s complaint.
  The Director has the burden of proving facts that provide cause to discipline Cox’s license.

Count I – Felony Conviction


Upon Cox’s plea of guilty, the federal district court found him guilty of violating 18 USC § 241, which provides:

If two or more persons conspire to injure, oppress, threaten, or intimidate any person in any State, Territory, Commonwealth, Possession, or District in the free exercise or enjoyment of any right or privilege secured to him by the Constitution or laws of the United States, or because of his having so exercised the same;
*   *   *

They shall be fined under this title or imprisoned not more than ten years, or both[.]
The Director contends that Cox’s plea of guilty is cause to discipline his license under 
§ 374.755.1(2), as that law was effective on July 9, 2004.  On July 9, 2004, § 374.755.1, RSMo 2000,
 allowed discipline for a licensee:

(2) Having entered a plea of guilty or having been found guilty of a felony[.]

The Director has cause to discipline Cox for his plea of guilty to the federal felony under 
§ 374.755.1(2), RSMo 2000.

The Director also contends that the version of § 374.755.1(2) in effect on November 4, 2005, when the Director filed the complaint, allows discipline for Cox’s guilty plea.  Section 374.755 was amended, effective January 1, 2005,
 to allow discipline for:

(2) Final adjudication or a plea of guilty or nolo contendere within the past fifteen years in a criminal prosecution under any state or federal law for a felony or a crime involving moral turpitude whether or not a sentence is imposed, prior to issuance of license date[.]

We reject the Director’s contention that we can apply the amended version of § 374.755.1(2), RSMo Supp. 2005.  We must apply the substantive law in effect when the factual basis for the disciplinary action occurred.
  
Count II – Violation of Missouri Law


The Director contends that the conduct to which Cox pled guilty in federal court constitutes a crime under Missouri law:  acceding to corruption by a public servant, a Class D felony under § 576.020, RSMo 2000.  The Director relies on the present version of § 374.755 in his contention that this is cause to discipline Cox’s license.  That version became effective on January 1, 2005.
  Section 374.755.1, RSMo Supp. 2005, allows discipline for:

(6) Violation of any provision of or any obligation imposed by the laws of this state, department of insurance rules and regulations, or aiding or abetting other persons to violate such laws, orders, rules or regulations, or subpoenas[.]
As discussed under Count I, we must apply the disciplinary law effective at the time of the allegedly offending conduct.  The conduct that the Director contends violated § 576.020 occurred before January 1, 2005.  Therefore, § 374.755.1, RSMo Supp. 2005, is not applicable and provides no cause to discipline Cox.

Defenses

At the hearing, Cox argued that his federal conviction should not be used against him because he was cooperating in a federal investigation into the possible criminal activity of another person “under the belief that the felony conviction could be set aside.”
  There was no showing of any proceeding pending to set aside the conviction.  As we indicated at the hearing, Cox’s beliefs are supposition at this point and do not constitute a legally recognizable defense.

Cox also argued mitigating circumstances to support placing his license on probation instead of revoking it.  Section 621.110, RSMo 2000, does not give us the authority to decide what measure of discipline to impose.  While the law allows us the discretion to make non-binding recommendations, we decline to do so.
Summary


Cox is subject to discipline under § 374.755.1(2), RSMo 2000.

SO ORDERED on September 22, 2006.



________________________________



JOHN J. KOPP 


Commissioner

	�Ex. 3.


	�Cox was served with the Director’s complaint at the federal prison camp in Pensacola, Florida, on November 30, 2005.  Cox was present for our hearing on June 19, 2006.  There is no evidence of when Cox was released and when the term of his supervision will expire.


	�Section 621.045, RSMo Supp. 2005.


	�Missouri Real Estate Comm’n v. Berger, 764 S.W.2d 607, 711 (Mo. App., E.D. 1989).  


	�The version of § 374.755 effective in 2003 and 2004 is found in the Revised Statutes of Missouri 2000. 


	�L. 2004, S.B. 1122, § A , p. 1126 at 1172, and § B at 1188 (92nd Gen. Assem., 2nd Reg. Session).


	�Section 1.170, RSMo 2000; Comerio v. Beatrice Foods Co., 595 F. Supp. 918, 920-21 (E.D. Mo., 1984).


	�L. 2004, S.B. 1122, § A , p. 1126 at 1172, and § B at 1188 (92nd Gen. Assem., 2nd Reg. Session).


	�Tr. at 14.
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